EXPRESSION & PURIFICATION OF Cas12 (LbCpf1) AND ITS APPLICATION IN DETECTION OF TOMATO LEAF CURL NEW DELHI VIRUS-POTATO

Thesis submitted in the partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Masters of Science in Biotechnology

By

DIVYANSH BHADIAR

Roll no. 207818

Under the Supervision of

Dr. Anil Kant, Associate Professor

JUIT, Waknaghat (H.P)



Department of Biotechnology & Bioinformatics Jaypee University of Information Technology, Waknaghat [H.P]

SELF-DECLARATION

I hereby declare that the work reported in the M.Sc. dissertation thesis entitled "Expression & Purification of Cas12 (Lbcpf1) And Its Application In Detection of Tomato Leaf Curl New Delhi Virus-Potato" submitted at Jaypee University of Information Technology, Waknaghat, Himachal Pradesh, India, is an authentic record of my work carried out under the supervision of Dr. Anil Kant (Associate Professor) at Department of Biotechnology and Bioinformatics, Jaypee University of Information Technology, Waknaghat, Himachal Pradesh-173234, India and in collaboration with Dr. Sundaresha S. at Division of Crop Improvement, Central Potato Research Institute, Bemloe, Shimla, Himachal Pradesh-171001, India.

I have not submitted this work elsewhere for any other degree or diploma.

Date:

Place:

DIVYANSH BHADIAR Roll no. 207818 M.Sc. Biotechnology, JUIT, Waknaghat, H.P, INDIA.

CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that the work reported in the M.Sc. dissertation thesis entitled "Expression & Purification of Cas12 (Lbcpf1) And Its Application in Detection of Tomato Leaf Curl New Delhi Virus-Potato" submitted by <u>Divyansh Bhadiar (207818)</u> at *Jaypee University of Information Technology, Waknaghat, Himachal Pradesh, India,* is a bonafide record of his original work and has not been submitted elsewhere for any other degree or diploma programme.

Date:

Place:

Dr. Anil Kant Associate Professor, BT & BI, JUIT, Waknaghat, HP, INDIA

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This thesis would not have been possible without the guidance and the help of several individuals who in one way or another contributed and their valuable time, assistance & support in the preparation and completion of this study. It is pleasure to convey my gratitude to them all in my humble acknowledgement.

First and foremost, it gives me immense pleasure and privilege to express gratitude to my supervisor Associate Professor **Dr. Anil Kant**. I would like to acknowledge him for the dedication, perseverance, trust and availability throughout these years. He has inspired me to become an independent researcher by allowing me the room to work in my own ways and made me realise the power and importance of critical thinking and logical reasoning in research. One simply could not wish for friendlier and caring supervisor. I am indebted to him more than he may know.

I'm very thankful to **Dr. Sundaresha** for their immense support, facilities & guidance they provided throughout to carry out my research work. Additionally, the scientific expertise he brought to my work. The passion, energy, enthusiasm and love he has for his work (research) is always the source of inspiration for me to keep going in this path. He is always been an important pillar to my dissertation work which may not be possible without his contribution.

I would like to thank **Dr. Sudhir Syal** (*HOD*), Dept. of BT & BI, JUIT, Waknaghat (H.P) for allowing me to carry out this project. He's always been an immense support and guided us all through the right path for being a true researcher. He's extremely helpful and understanding.

Foremost, I want to express my deep sense of gratitude and devotion to Ms. Suhani Bhagta (*PhD scholar, JUIT*), Ms. Monika Choudhary (*PhD Scholar, JUIT*), Ms. Manpreet (*PhD scholar, HPU*), Ms. Sudha (*PhD scholar, HPU*), Dr. Neha Sharma (*Post-doctoral, CPRI*), Mr. Dheeraj Kumar (*M.Sc., JUIT*), Dr. Jitendraa Vashishtt (*Associate Professor, JUIT*), Dr. Saurabh Bansal (*Assistant Professor, JUIT*) for their continuous assistance and cooperation along the journey. I really appreciate how enthusiastically and calmly they shared their knowledge and spare some of their invaluable time for me. The guidance, care and love they've given to me will always be remembered. I wish I had time to learn more from them.

I am deeply grateful to Ms. Sonika Gupta, Mr. Mohd. Ismail Siddiqui and Ms. Mamta Mishra for their immediate availability to guide me in this work and knowledge or guidance they provided with along the way. They truly demonstrate what a brilliant and hard-working lab assistants can accomplish.

Last but not least, I would like to thank **my Family & Friends** with all of my heart. Nothing I write can describe what they mean to me. I am eternally grateful for all the love, patience, blessings, encouragement and continuous kind support I got from you. I deeply appreciate your presence throughout my difficult times, for your advices and to believing me that it is possible to overcome all the challenges. They're my greatest strength and source of inspiration. I love you so much!

All may not be mentioned, but no one is forgotten.

Table of Contents

SELF-DECLARATION	II
CERTIFICATE	III
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	IV
LIST OF FIGURES	VII
LIST OF TABLES	VIII
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	VIII
ABSTRACT	1
CHAPTER 1 – INTRODUCTION	2-4
CHAPTER 2 - REVIEW OF LITERATURE	5-14
2.1 Recombinant Protein Expression & Purification	6
2.2 IMMOBILISED METAL-AFFINITY CHROMATOGRAPHY	6
2.3 TOMATO LEAF CURL NEW DELHI VIRUS (TOLCNDV)	9
2.4 WHY DIAGNOSIS IS REQUIRED & CONVENTIONAL TECHNIQUES FOR DETECTION	11
2.5 CRISPR IN NUCLEIC ACID DETECTION	13
CHAPTER 3 - MATERIAL & METHODOLOGY	15-28
3.1 MATERIALS	16
3.1.1 COMPUTATIONAL TOOLS & SOFTWARE'S	16
3.1.2 CHEMICALS	17
3.1.3 Instrumentation & Equipment	19
3.1.4 BIOLOGICAL MATERIAL	20
3.2 Methodology	21
3.2.1 <i>In silico</i> Primer & GRNA designing	22
3.2.1.1 SELECTION OF TOLCNDV ISOLATE AND THEIR TARGETED GENES <i>in silico</i>	22
3.2.1.2 PRIMER DESIGNING FOR SELECTED TARGETED SEQUENCES	23

3.2.1.3 GRNA DESIGNING FOR TARGET REGIONS	23
3.2.2 LbCpf1 (Cas12): Transformation, Expression, Extraction & Purification	24
3.2.2.1 TRANSFORMATION OF PRSET-A VECTOR WITH LBCPF1 GENE TO BL21 (DE3)	HOST
CELLS & CONFIRMATION	24
3.2.2.2 Confirm LbCpf1 gene in transformed pRSET-A vector	24
3.2.2.3 Expression of LbCpf1 (LbCas12 Protein)	24
3.2.2.4 Crude Protein Extraction	25
3.2.2.4.1 Soluble Proteins extraction	25
3.2.2.4.2 Insoluble Proteins extraction	25
3.2.2.5 Recombinant protein (LbCpf1) Purification	25
3.2.2.6 SDS-PAGE ANALYSIS	26
3.2.2.7 PILOT EXPRESSION OF IPTG INDUCED LBCPF1 CULTURE	26
3.2.3 SAMPLE (TOLCNDV) DNA EXTRACTION	27
CHAPTER 4 – RESULTS & DISCUSSION 2	<u> 29-41</u>
4.1 NARROW DOWN SELECTION TO TOLCNDV-POTATO AND THEIR TARGETED GENES	30
4.2 Designed Primers & gRNAs for selected genes (or targeted regions)	32
4.3 LbCpf1 (Cas12): Transformation, Expression, Extraction & Purification	35
4.3.1 CONFIRMED TRANSFORMATION OF PRSET-A VECTOR TO BL21 (DE3)	35
4.3.2 CONFIRMED LBCPF1 GENE IN TRANSFORMED PRSET-A VECTOR	35
4.3.3 Expression & Extraction of LbCpf1 Protein	36
4.3.4 SDS PAGE Analysis of Purified 6X His-tagged LbCpf1 protein	37
4.3.5 SDS PAGE Analysis of Pilot expression LbCpf1 cultures	39
4.4 SAMPLE (TOLCNDV) DNA EXTRACTION & ISOLATION	40
CONCLUSION	42
REFERENCES	<u>13-49</u>
APPENDIX	<u>50-51</u>

List of Figures

Figure 2.1: Interaction of Matrices with transition Metal ions then to Imidazole of Poly His-
tag7
Figure 2.2: Illustration of Ni-NTA – 6X-His tagged (IMAC) based purification of recombinant
proteins8
Figure 2.3: DNA-A & DNA-B components of ToLCNDV bipartite genome9
Figure 2.4: Taxonomical representation of few of the ToLCNDV variants10
Figure 2.5: Conventional Techniques for Diagnosis v/s CRISPR. 12
Figure 2.6: Showing "collateral-trans cleavage activity" of Cas12, Cas13 & Cas14 for precise
nucleic acid detection14
Figure 3.1: Flow chart representation of Methodology for CRISPR based Nucleic acid
detection21
Figure 3.2: Selection of ToLCNDV-Potato variant and their genes. 22
Figure 3.3: PCR reaction protocol in thermal cycler. 28
Figure 4.1: Selection of ToLCNDV-Potato variant30
Figure 4.2: Selected ToLCNDV - Potato KAN-6 isolates (Accession/GenBank ID - KX951455
& KX951456)31
Figure 4.2.1: In silico Primer & gRNA designs with their best optimised properties33
Figure 4.2.2: In silico Primer & gRNA designs with their best optimised properties34
Figure 4.3: Growth of Transformed cells on Ampicillin (100µg/mL) & Chloramphenicol
(35µg/mL) resistant LB Agar Plates35
Figure 4.4: Visualisation of pRSET-A vector backbone and fragments of LbCpf1 gene on
double digestion of Isolated plasmid in 1.2% agarose gel36
Figure 4.5: Expressed or IPTG induced cell pellets37
Figure 4.6: SDS PAGE analysis of Recombinant protein (6X His-Tagged LbCpf1) Expression
and Purification using Ni-NTA agarose matrix; IMAC39
Figure 4.7: SDS PAGE evaluation of Pilot expression induced cultures at varying IPTG
concentrations and time intervals40
Figure 4.8: PCR amplified or Isolated Coat protein (140bp) & Replicase (120bp) gene regions
of ToLCNDV41

List of Tables

Table 2.1: Different variants of Cas endonuclease with their affinity for nucleic acids as	target
or reporter molecules.	14
Tabel 3.1: Induced cultures for pilot expression with different IPTG stocks at va	arying
concentration and time interval	27
Table 3.2: PCR reaction setup	27
Table 4. 1: Different genes in bipartite genome of ToLCNDV-potato isolate K	AN-6.
	32

List of Abbreviations

- i. AFT Affinity Fusion Tags
- ii. APS Ammonium Per Sulfate
- iii. BLAST Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
- iv. Cas protein CRISPR Associated protein
- v. CRISPR Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats
- vi. gRNA guide RNA
- vii. GST Glutathione-S-Transferase
- viii. IPTG Isopropyl-β-D-1-ThioGalactopyranoside
- ix. IMAC Immobilized Metal Affinity Chromatography
- x. kbp Kilo base pairkDa Kilo Dalton
- xi. MBP Maltose Binding Protein
- xii. MCS Multiple Cloning site
- xiii. MS Mass Spectrometry
- xiv. MSA Multiple Sequence Alignment
- xv. NA Nucleic acid
- xvi. NCBI National Centre for Biotechnology Information
- xvii. NEB New England Biolabs
- xviii. Ni-NTA Nickel-Nitriloacetic acid
- xix. ORFs Open Reading Frames
- xx. RDT Recombinant DNA Technology
- xxi. RPP Recombinant Protein Purification
- xxii. TEMED Tetramethyl Ethylenediamine
- xxiii. ToLCNDV Tomato Leaf Curl New Delhi Virus

Abstract

Tomato Leaf Curl New Delhi Virus (ToLCNDV) was found to infect tomato and other members of Solanaceous crops. But lately it has been reported to infect a range of plant species at various geographical locations. There are many reports indicating spread of ToLCNDV to other vegetable and fiber crops, inflicting severe economic losses. Symptoms of ToLCNDV on different host plants include yellow mosaic, leaf curling, vein swelling and plant stunting, which overlap with many other viruses or disease conditions and thus detection is not possible on the basis of symptoms. So, it becomes very essential to develop fast, specific and efficient diagnosis techniques for detection of such a devastating and rapidly spreading plant virus. Conventional approaches such as antigen-antibody interaction, AFLP and PCR, etc. having some limitations could be overcome by 'CRISPR' based detection of targeted nucleic acids. CRISPR renowned for its precise and sensitivity as targeted genome editing (cis-cleavage) tool. Prior to the recognition of targeted genome by CRISPR-Cas complex, its 'Collateral activity' (trans-cleavage) gets activated. Which could be utilised as attomolar level sensitive, novel nucleic acid detection platform with the help of random ssDNA (reporter molecules) labelled at one end with fluorophore and other with quencher. Such an approach will be more sensitive, specific, faster and efficient to perform compared to available diagnostic methods. In this study, we're interested in designing of specific gRNAs (in silico) against ToLCNDV-Potato alongside with expression & purification of Cas12a (LbCpf1) through IMAC technique then check their efficacy in CRISPR based diagnosis of ToLCNDV from potato samples.

CHAPTER 1 – INTRODUCTION

India is an agricultural land and it's the primary source of income for >70% of rural Indians, employs around 52% of the workforce [1] and contributing 20.2% to the GDP (Gross Domestic Product) of the country in financial year 2020-2021 [2], [3]. India is one of prime producer and exporter of pulses, wheat, milk, jute, cotton, rice, spices, fruits and vegetables, etc. contributing a lot to the economy of country [4]–[7]. But modern emergence of various Plant viruses causing huge loss of these economically important and regular use crops. One of such viruses are Tomato Leaf Curl New Delhi Virus (ToLCNDV); Begomoviral [8], [9], aka; Potato Apical Leaf Curl Virus (PALCV) initially found affecting only Tomato plants (or other Solanaceous crops) but lastly spread their horizon to different hosts, at various geographical locations and became a large taxonomy now [10]–[14]. Potato which is the most consumable vegetable not just in India but in World and that we require in our daily households are one of their target host plants among 42 other plant species [15]. India is among top 10 producers for Potato export in world ranking and having a market of billions of rupees [16]–[18], contributing a lot to the economy of the country which is getting suffered due to the yield loss by infection of viruses like ToLCNDV [19]. As symptoms on ToLCNDV are common like leaf curling, shortening of leaves, stunted growth, etc. may arise due to several other factors [20]. So, it becomes very essential to develop fast, specific and efficient diagnosis technique for detection of such plant viruses. Which is not enough through conventional approaches like symptomatology, antigenantibody interaction & PCR. Some lacks specificity, accuracy, more complex, require skilful personnel expensive or heavy instruments and are time consuming. These all could be overcome by a single 'CRISPR based approach for nucleic acid detection' [21], [22]. As CRISPR is already well known for its preciseness and specificity in genome editing (ciscleavage), similar the case with their collateral activity (trans-cleavage) that could be used for diagnosis [23]-[26]. Which is comparatively more precise, faster, easy to perform hence efficient. So, in this study we're going to learn about isolation, extraction of the viral genome from the infected Potato plant, its Pre-amplification and then CRISPR based nucleic acid detection along with CRISPR-Cas components preparation by in silico selection & designing of primers & gRNAs specifically for ToLCNDV and purification of recombinant LbCpf1 (LbCas12a) protein via IMAC (Immobilised Metal Affinity Chromatography).

However, there are various approaches for recombinant protein production through blend of different expression and purification techniques [27], [28]. By utilising any of the expression system i.e.; expression host cells or expression vectors commercially available in the market depending on the type of gene or protein to be expressed or purified respectively and the

conditions. For example; some proteins produced more efficiently or effectively in Prokaryotic (E coli) expression system while other requires Mammalian expression system to get expressed (especially eukaryotic proteins). It's been also observed in practise that some proteins found to be more convenient with one expression system than others, for that conditions or protocol need to be standardise to get best results. The most common expression vectors are pET vectors, pCMV vectors, pHEK293 vectors, pQE-40 vectors, pRSET vectors, etc. and expression host cells are BL21 (DE3), NiCo21 (DE3) cells, Rosetta (DE3) cells, M15 cells, etc.

On successive expression of recombinant proteins, the purification is most commonly done through affinity fusion tags (i.e.; Affinity chromatography). Affinity fusion tags (AFT) are small biomolecules tagged alongside with recombinant proteins in expression vectors, having strong affinity to bind specifically with another molecules in column matrix and get purified. There are number of AFT available in market today such as; Proteinase A, GST (Glutathione-S-Transferase), MBP (Maltose Binding Protein) tag, Poly Histidine tags, etc. having affinity to different ligands or molecules immobilised in column matrix and hence manage to purify recombinant proteins [29]–[31]. A short sequence of protease cleavage site could be inserted in between AFT & recombinant proteins sequence in expression vectors for removal of these tags at later applications. But most commonly it's been observed that AFT at C or N terminus end of desired proteins doesn't interferes with the working or applications of that protein. So, on purification of recombinant LbCpf1 (Cas12a) protein their collateral activity could be employed in diagnosis of ToLCNDV infecting potato plant with aid of specific crRNAs and non-specific labelled ssDNA's (reporter molecules).

Following are the objectives of my dissertation work:

- I. *In silico* designing of primers and gRNAs respectively targeting specifically to the selected regions of ToLCNDV-Potato genome.
- II. Expression of recombinant LbCpf1 gene within pRSET-A vector in BL21 (DE3) host cells.
- III. Extraction and Purification of 6X-His tagged recombinant LbCpf1 protein in NI²⁺-NTA agarose column (IMAC) and analysis of purified samples in SDS PAGE.
- IV. CRISPR based detection of ToLCNDV infecting potato plant using above prepared CRISPR-Cas components.

CHAPTER 2 - REVIEW OF LITERATURE

2.1 Recombinant Protein Expression & Purification

After the birth of Recombinant DNA Technology (RDT) through immense efforts of some American biochemists; P Berg, H Boyer, S Cohen and few others in early 1970's [32]-[34], it opened a broad scope for the new innovations in the fields of Genetic engineering, RDT & Molecular biology. One of such are production of Recombinant proteins having wide range of applications from agriculture to pharmaceuticals. This noble work was pioneered by production of first recombinant product hormone somatostatin followed by human insulin in E coli [35], [36]. These developments lead protein industry to new heights and advanced the field of Science in RDT. To date there are hundreds of recombinant proteins approved to the market and been in use[37]. Where the upstream processing of recombinant proteins was forwarding to new discoveries and advancements, the downstream processing or extraction and purification of these recombinant proteins were tedious and time consuming required more improvements and development of new methodologies for downstream recombinant protein purification. The use of AFT fulfilled that requirement reduced the time and efforts, and increased the yield of final product on downstreaming chromatography of Recombinant Protein Purification (RPP). This work of RPP using AFT was first practised by Uhlén et al. who employed staphylococcal protein A as AFT having affinity with IgG Sepharose [38]. And now there are several affinity fusion strategies are developed for RPP such as; Protein A, GST (Glutathione-S-Transferase), FLAG peptide, MBP (Maltose Binding Protein) tag, Poly Histidine tags, etc. [31], [39].

2.2 Immobilised Metal-Affinity Chromatography

Immobilised Metal-Affinity Chromatography (IMAC) is one of such approaches used to purify recombinant proteins pioneered by Porath et al. [40]. This technique consists of three main components transition metal ions (d-block elements) such as; Co²⁺, Cu²⁺, Ni²⁺, Zn²⁺, matrix to which metal ions are immobilised such as; Iminodiacetic Acid (IDA), Nickle-Nitrilotriacetic acid (Ni-NTA), Cobalt-Carboxylmethylaspartate (Co-CMA), etc. coupled with resins mostly like Sepharose and Agarose[41]–[43]. Among all these Ni-NTA is most commonly adopted for RPP in modern era as NTA having four coordination sites (tetradentate) compared to three coordination sites (tridentate) in IDA which weakly binds to metal ions resulting into lower yields or impure products [44]. Transitional ion Ni²⁺ having six coordination sites out of these four gets chelated to NTA and remaining two form bonds with affinity tags (100-1000X than IDA), similar the case with Co-CMA (Figure 2.1). But it was observed that Ni-NTA having

better affinity to Poly-Histidine tags than Co-CMA due to some unspecified reasons [44], [45]. And last but not least the Affinity fusion tags (AFT) encoded on plasmid expression vectors in fusion with our desired protein having affinity to bind these matrix chelated metal ions. Most common and efficient AFT in IMAC is Poly-Histidine residues as electron donor groups on imidazole ring of amino acid histidine form strong coordination bonds with immobilised-chelated metal ions [41], [46]–[49]. Poly-Histidine tags having the arrangement of 6-12 consecutive histidine residues for efficient binding with metal ions. Out of which 6X Histidine residues are standardized by many as AFT for best RPP results and in practise most commonly [42], [44], [50], [51]



Figure 2.1: Interaction of Matrices with transition Metal ions then to Imidazole of Poly His-tag. (a) Ni-NTA-AFT interaction. (b) Co-CMA-AFT interaction.

(AFT) – Affinity fusion tags. (Ni²⁺-NTA)* - Nickel-Nitrilotriacetic acid. (Co-CMA) - Cobalt-Carboxylmethylaspartate [46].

Following efficient binding of Ni²⁺ NTA to 6X-His tagged recombinant protein the subsequent washing and elution could be done using buffers with low pH (around 6.3 for washing and 4.3 to 5.9 for elution) or most commonly using resuspension or column buffers with varying Imidazole concentration (around 20-30mM for washing and about 250mM for elution) [44], [52] as this external imidazole competes with imidazole ring structures of histidine residues for

binding to Ni²⁺-NTA matrix (**Figure 2.2**). These buffer compositions can vary in accordance with type of His-tag (i.e.; 6X to 12X) or Proteins under purification [41]. Sometimes even low concentrations of EDTA could be employed for elution step, as a chelating agent it strips down tagged recombinant proteins alongside with Ni²⁺ ions, it's one among the drawbacks of this method to separate Ni²⁺ ion from purified proteins later [53]. Over successive purification affinity tags could be removed from the desired recombinant proteins by utilising Proteases like Enterokinase or Factor Xa, etc. That makes cut on their respective cleavage site integrated in between 6X His tag and recombinant protein [41], [44]. However, this step is not that necessarily required as these AFT rarely interferes with purified protein's activity. Unless or until the protein need to be get sequenced or physical and structural characterisation of protein need to be done (via XRD or MS) [50], [54].



(6X-His tagged - Recombinant Proteins)

Figure 2.2: Illustration of Ni-NTA – 6X-His tagged (IMAC) based purification of recombinant proteins. In washing step only 6X-His tagged recombinant proteins retained on the column, untagged or un wanted proteins get washed away. In elution step all the proteins get eluted at high imidazole concentration in buffer.

2.3 Tomato Leaf Curl New Delhi Virus (ToLCNDV)

Tomato Leaf curl New Delhi virus is one of the types of leaf curl virus consist of bipartite, ssDNA under genus Begomovirus and Geminiviridae family, first discovered in New Delhi, India at 1995 thus named so, but initially called ToLCV India [55], [56]. Since then, it is spreading throughout resulted into huge taxonomy, classified on the basis of geographical regions like; ToLCV Bangalore, ToLCV Pakistan, ToLCV Australia and ToLCV New Delhi, etc. [57], [58] and then many of these been observed affecting different crops than Tomato and classified on that basis also like; ToLCNDV Chili pepper, ToLCNDV Bitter gourd, ToLCNDV Jatropha, ToLCNDV Okra, ToLCNDV pumpkin, etc. [13], [56] Even same ToLCNDV is spreading to the other nearby regions like Lucknow, Aurangabad, Kanpur, Pakistan, etc. according to the data collected from Taxonomy browser of NCBI (Taxonomy id: 223347).

<u>Bemisia tabaci</u> (whitefly) are generally responsible for spread of this begomovirus and act as vector insect. Reportedly on feeding of 15-30 minutes on infected plant they acquire this virus from them and the virus retain there for 10-12 days and at that period of time it spread to uninfected plants [59]. This viral is spreading either direct contact of vectors or through seedlings is not clearly known till now.

The virus-host mechanism here is based on the role of various genes present in DNA-A & DNA-B (Figure 2.3). DNA-A have essential genes for coating, replication, transcription, etc. and DNA-B have genes for movement protein (BC1) and nuclear shuttle protein (BV1) mainly responsible for spread of the virus and pathogenicity (Table 4. 1).



Figure 2.3: DNA-A & DNA-B components of ToLCNDV bipartite genome [60].

ToLCNDV from three isolates of potato was agro-infected *to N. benthamiana* and *S. tuberosum* by Jeevalatha et al. They observed distinct characteristic symptoms in all infected plants. [61]. This research opened the door for further studies of symptomatology on infection with ToLCNDV. Before them, some researchers also did a study by expressing BV1 gene (nuclear shuttle protein) through Potato virus X in *N. benthamiana* and observed leaf curl and hypersensitive response, hence suggested that BV1 gene may be responsible for leaf curl (symptom) and generating immune response in host [62].

Initially this virus only affecting Tomato followed by <u>Solanaceae</u> family in India or nearby Asia-Pacific regions, but now the similar kind of infection have been found into wide range of other plants too like cucumber, chili, melon, pumpkin, Hibiscus cannabinus, papaya, Brinjal, Potato, and in total around 44 plant species or 445 plant species by begomovirus at different geographical regions across globe (Figure 2.4). Despite, this virus dominantly affecting Solanaceae and Cucurbitaceae, related family especially at European - Mediterranean region that EPPO declared this virus in their 'Alert list' [56].



Figure 2.4: Taxonomical representation of few of the ToLCNDV variants.

The disease or symptoms of virus like; leaf curl, rumple leaves and striking mosaic on potato plant first time observed in INDIA during 1999 [63], the researcher also stated association of begomovirus with the help of Immunospecific electron microscopy. Later, it was proved by nucleotide sequencing that strain causing these symptoms in potato are emerged or related to ToLCNDV [15]. Since then, it's been observed infecting various crops of potato at different geographical location like Kanpur, Modi Puram, Faizabad, Pune, even in several places of Pakistan [12], [64]. This exploitation of potato crops resulted to great loss for the country like

India whose 15-17% economy is based on agriculture and associated sector[1], [2], [65]. India is among top 10 producers of Potato in the world and export potatoes to around 30 countries valued over 5.8 billion Indian rupees a/c to data in fiscal year 2020. Today, Potato is the most important vegetable and third most important crop in terms for food consumption a/c to recent report by International Potato Centre (CPI). Potato is very essential part of our daily cooking and rich in various vitamins, minerals and fibres. And hundreds of millions of people in developing countries depend on potatoes for their survival including India. So, protection of this crop from ToLCNDV (and other viruses) is in so much of necessity.

2.4 Why Diagnosis is required & Conventional techniques for Detection

For the treatment of any disease the very first step is to find out the cause of that disease, what are the factors responsible for that infection/disease, their interaction, mechanism of causing infection, study all this thoroughly even at molecular level. So, in order to tackle from this threat of ToLCNDV to Potato crops we need to diagnose and confirm it first. The conventional methods for ToLCNDV diagnosis in plant till now are:

- Symptomatology On infection with virus there are several recognisable changes in physical properties of plants such as; leaf curling, leaf margins darkening (or yellowish), thickening of veins, leaf size reduced, sometimes cause late ripening of fruits and flowers, stunted growth due to internode shortening [60]. But these symptoms can vary from host to host and main physiological reason behind these physical properties is not clear yet. And also viral infection is not the only reason for such symptoms in plants it could be caused due to deficiency of mineral ions such as; Mg, N, Fe (for leaf yellowing), lack of water or food supply to leaves or plant part at top and infection of other viruses than ToLCNDV, causes; leaf curl, leaf size shortening and stunted plant growth, etc. [58]–[60]. So, it wouldn't be advisable to diagnose ToLCNDV by just on basis of these symptoms.
- 2. When viral infection or disease is susceptible then best approach is molecular level diagnosis. Such as;
 - a) Enzyme Linked Immuno-Sorbent Assay (ELISA)
 - b) Southern Blot Hybridisation
 - c) Gold standard Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)
 - d) Polymerase chain reaction -Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (PCR-RFLP)

As done by Muniyappa, et al. the sequence comparison of ToLCV-BAN4 with ToLCV India (now ToLCNDV) with the help of techniques like; Triple antibody sandwich ELISA, Polymerase chain reaction and by Southern blot analysis either individually or in combinations [58].



Figure 2.5: Conventional Techniques for Diagnosis v/s CRISPR. Summing up limitations of traditional techniques and how CRISPR based diagnosis overcome that.

But these molecular level diagnosis techniques even possess some limitations too such as; Antibodies in ELISA are for detection of begomovirus as whole and not specific for ToLCNDV. But this genus consists of 445 viral species and all are different in their physiological effects on host hence require specific treatment and so is diagnosis. In PCR, also there are high chances of off-target effects and give false positive results. Especially when diagnosing a small bit of viral genome (DNA) from a very large amount of plant genome, chances of getting false results are increased. And detection solely based on DNA polymerase is problematic since this enzyme is also error prone. [66], [67]. Similarly, the Southern blot hybridisation (analysis) not alone capable of viral diagnosis from plant host, requires assistance of some other techniques like PCR, gel electrophoresis. And even undergoing through two subsequent detection protocols still diagnosis is not that sensitive [58]. Hence, we require any technique which is more efficient, specific, sensitive, have lesser error rates, faster and give more accurate results. (Figure 2.5)

2.5 CRISPR in Nucleic acid detection

Due to the recent advancement in genome modification and genetic engineering applications via CRISPR-Cas (Cluster Regularly Inter-Spaced Palindromic Repeats - CRISPR Associated protein) it became the name which no longer require any introduction for researchers. It's naturally acts as defence mechanism for bacteria and archaea against phage's which was introduced as RNA guided Endonuclease first time in 2012 (i.e; CRISPR-Cas9) [68]. Since then, it is completely dominating the world of genome editing by replacing techniques like Zinc Finger Nucleases (ZFN), Mega nucleases, Transcription Activator Like Effector Nucleases (TALENs) which are all protein-based endonucleases because RNA based endonuclease is more precise and easier for delivery [69]–[71]. This innovation of CRISPR as very efficient genome editing tool leads Jennifer A Doudna and Emmanuelle Charpentier to win Nobel Prize in Chemistry, 2020. The principle of CRISPR-Cas dependent genome editing is based on its two components; CRISPR-RNA (crRNA) or guide RNA (gRNA) and Cas endonuclease. Where crRNA complementary to target region have directed repeats for Cas protein binding and guides Cas protein to target the region where Cas endonuclease recognises PAM site (Protospacer Adjacent Motif) on non-targeted strand and ended up on making cut (i.e.; cis cleavage) [68].

Sometimes later, CRISPR Cas12a (aka: Cpf1) [72] & CRISPR Cas13 (aka; C2c2) were also discovered to have amazing set of applications of their own. In contrast to CRISPR/Cas9, which was an RNA-based DNA endonuclease, Cas13 uniquely targets ssRNA [73]. And additionally having "collateral activity" (trans-cleavage) developed as an efficient and very precise Nucleic acid detection tool named SHERLOCK [25]. Similarly, Cas12a also capable of performing both the activities; genome editing with staggered end cuts on DNA [72] and collateral cleavage activity for diagnosis or nucleic acid detection [23] later used for developing Cas12 based nucleic acid detection tools named HOLMES [24] and DETECTR [26]. This technology widely been used on later for precise, fast, specific and very sensitive nucleic acid detection tool, even for diagnosis of current global pandemic SARS-CoV2 by many [74]–[78] and shows potential to be developed as Point-of-care-diagnosis (POCD) for nucleic acid [77], [79], [80]. In order to embrace CRISPR for nucleic acid detection we make use of collateral activity of Cas endonucleases (Cas12, Cas13, Cas14) which possesses an additional cleavage domain, that make cuts on random, non-specific/complementary ssDNA (in case of Cas12 & Cas14) or ssRNA (in case of Cas13) present in reaction (i.e.; Trans-cleavage) [24], [25] (Figure **2.6**). Hence, they utilised these ssDNA or ssRNA as reporter molecules by labelling them with fluorophore at one end and quencher on other which on cleavage (due to collateral activity of Cas endonucleases) get separated and give fluorescent signals. **(Table 2.1)**



Figure 2.6: Showing "collateral-trans cleavage activity" of Cas12, Cas13 & Cas14 for precise nucleic acid detection [81].

Table 2.1: Different variants of Cas endonuclease with their affinity for nucleic acids as target or reporter molecules.

Cas-variants	Efficient detection of	Reporter molecules
Cas12	dsDNA/ssDNA	ssDNA
Cas13	ssRNA/dsRNA	ssRNA
Cas14	ssDNA	ssDNA

CHAPTER 3 - MATERIAL & METHODOLOGY

3.1 Materials

Computational tools	Parent website	Their Role
Taxonomy Browser	NCBI (National Centre for Biotechnology Information)	It is the Taxonomy database contains classification and nomenclature of approximately 10% of all the identified species of life on earth
BLAST (Basic Local Alignment Search Tool)	NCBI	BLAST searches for similarities between biological sequences. It compares the nucleotide or protein sequences to biological sequence databases.
Primer-BLAST	NCBI	For designing specific primers for our template sequence in PCR, using algorithms of Primer3 and BLAST
MSA (Multiple Sequence Alignment) Tool	EMBL-EBI (European Molecular Biology Laboratory - European Bioinformatics Institute)	MSA is generally the alignment of multiple biological sequences (more than two) of about similar length. From there we can get the homology and phylogenetic relationships between those sequences.
FastPCR	PrimerDigital	FastPCR is a comprehensive tool for designing PCR primers or oligonucleotide probes, oligonucleotides assembly and analysis, alignment and finding repeats. (We utilised it here to find restriction sites in our sequence)
NEBcutter V2.0	New England Biolabs _{Inc}	It is to find the large, non-overlapping ORFs in a DNA sequence using the <i>E. coli</i> genetic code and the sites for all Type II and Type III restriction enzymes.

3.1.1 Computational Tools & Software's

Cas-DesignerCRISPR RGEN Toolsgiven input sequence. Also, some other relevant information like; potential off- targets with 2nt or 3nt mismatches and out-of-frame scores via Microhomology- predictor.

3.1.2 Chemicals

Chemical	Manufacturer	Quantity
Luria Bertani Broth	HIMEDIA	25g/L (w/v)
Luria Bertani Agar	HIMEDIA	40g/L (w/v)
Ampicillin stock	HIMEDIA	100mg/mL - 50mg/mL (w/v)
Chloromphonical stock	HIMEDIA	25mg/mL(w/y)
Chloramphenicol stock		55mg/mL (w/v)
Agarose (1.2%)	HIMEDIA	1.2g/100mL (w/v)
Ethidium bromide	HIMEDIA	0.034%
Tris buffer (1M)	SRL	121.14g/L (w/v)
Tris-Cl (1M)	Fisher Scientific	157.6g/L (w/v)
Glacial acetic acid (10%)	Merck	100mL/L (v/v)
EDTA (0.5M)	Sigma-Aldrich	186.1g/L (w/v)
6X DNA loading dye	Thermo Scientific	1X (diluted) (v/v)

IPTG (IsoPropyl-β-D-1-	HIMEDIA /	0.238mg/mL
ThioGalactopyranoside) (1M - stock)	GENEI	(w/v)
Lysozyme stock	Sigma-Aldrich	10mg/mL (w/v)
RNase A stock	Sigma-Aldrich	10mg/mL (w/v)
Ni-NTA Agarose	Qiagen	5-10mg/mL (Protein binding capacity)
Acrylamide (29.2%)	BIO-RAD	29.2g in 100mL (w/v)
Bis Acrylamide (0.8%)	BIO-RAD	0.8g in 100mL (w/v)
SDS (10%)	HIMEDIA	10g in 100mL (w/v)
Ammonium PerSulfate (APS) (10%)	BIO-RAD	10g in 100mL (w/v)
TetraMethylEthyleneDiamine (TEMED)	Sigma-Aldrich	5-10 μ L / reaction (v/v)
Methanol (40%)	Fisher Scientific	400mL/L (w/v)
Coomassie brilliant blue G250	BIO-RAD	0.5%
Glycerol (50%)	Sigma-Aldrich	50mL in 100mL (v/v)
β- Mercaptoethanol	Sigma-Aldrich	5%-12.5%
1kbp DNA ladder	GeneRuler	2-5 μL
SDS PAGE - Protein Ladder (Low and Broad range)	BIO-RAD	4µL / SDS PAGE run

3.1.3 Instrumentation & Equipment

Instruments	Manufacturer	
LAF	Microsil India	
Incubate Shaker	N- Biotek	
Weighing Balance	Denver Instrument	
Magnetic Stirrer	RELITECH	
pH Meter	EUTECH	
Centrifuge 5810 R	eppendorf	
Microcentrifuge	HITACHI	
Benchtop Centrifuge	Benchmark Scientific	
Autoclave	SANYO	
Nanodrop	Thermo Scientific (Nanodrop 2000c)	
Heat Water Bath	GFL	
Agarose Gel electrophoresis setup	BIO-RAD	
Gel Doc. System	BIO-RAD	
Gel Rocker	GENEI	
GS-800 Calibrated Densitometer	BIO-RAD	
Freezer (4°C /-20°C / - 80°C)	Celfrost / Vestfrost solutions / New Brunswick Scientific, resp.	
Sonicator	SONICS	
SDS PAGE setup	BIO-RAD	
Equipments	Manufacturer	
Micropipettes	eppendorf / Thermo scientific / AXYPET	
Microtips	Tarson	
15 mL glass vial	JSW (Glasswares)	
Microcentrifuge tubes (1.5mL & 2mL)	eppendorf	

Falcon tubes (15mL & 50mL)	Tarson / Genaxy
Petri Plates	Genaxy
Flasks (250mL / 500mL / 1L)	JSGW
Reagent bottles (100mL / 250mL / 500mL)	JSGW
Column (or Burette - for Protein purification)	JSGW

3.1.4 Biological material

Biological Material	Provider
pRSET-A expression vector	Invitrogen
BL21 (DE3) pLysS cells	Invitrogen

3.2 Methodology



Figure 3.1: Flow chart representation of Methodology for CRISPR based Nucleic acid detection.

3.2.1 In silico Primer & gRNA designing

Before starting the experiment in the wet lab, we're required to go through some essential preparations from 'Dry lab'. This Dry lab work is divided mainly in two parts i.e.; gene specific Primer and CRISPR gRNA designing. But before designing these two kinds of oligonucleotides *in silico*, we first need to pick the target regions or genes complementary to which we're going to design these oligonucleotides (primers & gRNA).

3.2.1.1 Selection of ToLCNDV isolate and their targeted genes in silico

Go to NCBI -> Taxonomy Browser -> Search for 'Tomato leaf curl New Delhi Virus' -> From the list selected 'Tomato leaf curl New Delhi Virus - potato' (Taxonomy ID: 1296572). There clicked on the 'View & Analyse sequences in NCBI viruses. A list of all the ToLCNDV from potato isolates reported till now came across. From the list selected 'KX951455' & 'KX951456'; KAN-6 isolates of ToLCNDV-Potato (GenBank ID of their DNA-A and DNA-B respectively) (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2: Selection of ToLCNDV-Potato variant and their genes.

First through NCBI > Taxonomy browser, then in NCBI > Nucleotide (from their GenBank ID).

As of now I've selected the ToLCNDV-Potato KAN-6 isolate and known with their GenBank IDs, went to their sequence in Genbank format (NCBI > Nucleotide) and selected the most conserved regions or essential genes for viral pathogenicity through BLAST followed by MSA (Table 4. 1).

3.2.1.2 Primer designing for selected targeted sequences

This step has the utmost importance and is very common when coming across the PCR reaction. As for my case, I'm going to isolate ToLCNDV genes (selected) from the large potato genome through PCR directly so it becomes even more important. There are various software's and tools available on the internet for Primer designing such as; Primer-BLAST, Primer3, Primer Bank, Gene fisher Primer designer, Primer3Plus, FAST-PCR, etc. Among these I've done my work on 'Primer-BLAST' > NCBI.

Go to NCBI \rightarrow Nucleotide, there search for "KX951455 or KX951456" (GenBank ID) for DNA-A or DNA-B segments resp. Clicked on 'Pick Primer' at the right side of the GenBank window for KX951455 & KX951456. Primer BLAST window got opened, made few changes in Parameters, like;

- I. In the Primer template box added a sequence of targeted genes (i.e.; AV-1, BV-1, AC-1 and AC-2).
- II. Changed 'Database' to custom (; KX951455 or KX951456)
- III. At 'Organism' section added '223347' Taxon ID for ToLCNDV (potato)
 Leave the remaining parameters on default and click on 'Get Primers'. Shortlisted primer pairs with best of the properties from result. (Figure 4.2.1 & 4.2.2)

3.2.1.3 gRNA designing for target regions

Go to RGEN tools (<u>http://www.rgenome.net/</u>) \rightarrow Cas-Designer, inserted job title as ToLCNDV AV-1/BV-1/AC-1/AC-2 gene (depending on the gene we're targeting at the time).

Added Email for notification of results (optional). Now the parameters are selected as;

- I. PAM type 'AsCpf1 from *Acidaminococcus species* or LbCpf1 from *Lachnospiraceae bacterium*: 5'-TTTN-3'' as LbCpf1 is the Cas protein (Cas12) we're going to utilise.
- II. Next, in the Target genome: select Organism type Plants; and Genome Solanum tuberosum (PGSC v4.03) Potato, as they're most related.
- III. Added Target sequence against whom we're interested to design gRNA
- IV. Selected gRNA sequences with best possible properties, in complementary to the Primer-BLAST results (Figure 4.2.1 & 4.2.2).

3.2.2 LbCpf1 (Cas12): Transformation, Expression, Extraction & Purification

3.2.2.1 Transformation of pRSET-A vector with LbCpf1 gene to BL21 (DE3) host cells & confirmation

First synthesised pRSET-A vector containing LbCpf1 gene sequence (3681bp) downstream of 6x–His tag at BstBI site on MCS (Multiple Cloning site) of pRSET-A expression vector (invitrogen) commercially. Then, transformed this expression vector (along with LbCpf1 gene) into 100µL of BL21 (DE3) competent cells via Heat shock method of transformation.

First, competent cells and vector were incubated on ice for 20 min. then heat shocked at 42 °C, for 1 min. And again, incubated on ice for 2-3 min. Added 900 μ L of LB broth and grown the culture for 1 hr. at 37 °C. Centrifuged the grown culture at 4000 rpm for 4 min and discarded 900 μ L of supernatant. Resuspended the pellet in remaining 100 μ L and spread plate over three LB agar plates (triplicates) prepared with antibiotics Ampicillin (50 μ g/mL) and Chloramphenicol (35 μ g/mL) in LAF. Incubated these plates at 37°C and check growth on overnight grown plates (**Figure 4.3**).

3.2.2.2 Confirm LbCpf1 gene in transformed pRSET-A vector

Picked a single colony from overnight grown culture of Ampicillin and Chloramphenicol resistant plates (above) and inoculated in 5mL LB media having antibiotics Ampicillin (100µg/mL) and Chloramphenicol (35µg/mL) overnight at 37 °C. Plasmid isolation (via QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit) from overnight grown culture and double digestion with XhoI & PvuI (pair) and HindIII & BamHI (pair) confirmed the presence of LbCpf1 gene within transformed pRSET-A vector through visualisation of digested fragments (bands) in Gel electrophoresis (Figure 4.4).

3.2.2.3 Expression of LbCpf1 (LbCas12 Protein)

Put a starter culture of 15mL of LB broth with antibiotics Ampicillin (100µg/mL) and Chloramphenicol (35µg/mL) by adding 100µL of glycerol stock and grow overnight at 37 °C, 150rpm. Then, subculture 5mL each to three 100mL prepared autoclaved LB broth media and grow at similar conditions. On next day first collect the 1mL aliquot of uninduced control (Uninduced-Control) of each then induce two of these overnight grown culture (of 100mL) with 0.5mM IPTG for 4hr. (Sample-1) and 16hr. (Sample-2) and third culture with 1mM IPTG overnight (Sample-3) at 37 °C and 150 rpm shaker and collect 1mL aliquot of induced culture

(Induced-Control) from each. Centrifuged all, the main cultures (of 100mL) at 7000 rpm for 15 min. and 1mL aliquots at 8000 rpm for 4 min. Discard supernatant, collect cell pellets & store at 4 °C till the next step (recommended for a few days only and for long term storage keep at -20 °C).

3.2.2.4 Crude Protein Extraction

3.2.2.4.1 Soluble Proteins extraction

Weighed cell pellets of each culture were 2g (Sample-1), 0.8g (Sample-2) & 0.9g (Sample-3) & resuspended it on 10mL, 4mL and 5mL of Resuspension buffer (5mL/g wet weight) respectively with lysozyme (1 mg/mL) and incubate on ice for 30 min. Then sonicate at 200W, 40m amplitude with pulse of 10 sec. burst and 10 sec. of pause on ice for 2 min. Added RNase A (10 μ g/mL) and incubated on ice for 10 min (should also include DNase I - 5 μ g/mL, if have). Then centrifugation at 8000rpm for 45 min. at 4 °C. Collected supernatants of each sample in fresh labelled tubes and stored at 4 °C for purification step. Carried out pellets to the future proceedings (i.e.; insoluble protein extraction).

All the steps related to soluble proteins should be done on ice or at 4 °C to maintain protein structure stability.

3.2.2.4.2 Insoluble Proteins extraction

Weighed cell lysates of each sample (after soluble protein extraction) were 1.2g (Sample-1), 0.44g (Sample-2) & 0.48g (Sample-3). Resuspend it on 6mL, 3mL and 3mL of Lysis buffer respectively. Mix it thoroughly and incubate at room temperature for 60 min till it becomes translucent. Then centrifuge at 8000 rpm for 45 min at room temperature. Discard pellets and save supernatant for further purification step.

3.2.2.5 Recombinant protein (LbCpf1) Purification

Washed the column properly first with Aqua regia and then rinsed it with ethanol and sterile water 2-3 times. Let it dry for a while and it's ready to use. Add 1mL of Ni-NTA (Nickel-Nitriloacetic acid) Agarose matrix (Qiagen) to each supernatant sample, except for Sample-1 is mixed with 2mL of Ni-NTA Agarose. Then stir it slowly on a shaker at 10 rpm, 4°C for 1hr. After proper mixing and binding of LbCpf1 fused 6X His tagged (recombinant protein) to Ni-NTA Agarose, add this mixture to the clean and dried column. Keep the bottom valve closed, let agarose beads settle down for a few minutes. When all beads looked settled, open the valve slowly and collected flow through in a 15mL falcon tube. Washed twice with 4mL of Wash

buffer (20mM Imidazole) and collected both the washed samples in 15mL of falcons labelled Wash-1 and Wash-2 (in series its collected). Then added 2-3 mL of Elution buffer (with 250mM Imidazole) and collected ~0.5mL of aliquots in microcentrifuge tubes (Eppendorf) labelled E1-E6. Stored all the collected samples at 4 °C till SDS-PAGE analysis

3.2.2.6 SDS-PAGE analysis

Washed all the gel electrophoresis apparatus (gel plates, beakers, running chamber) and assembled it. Set gel plates on a casting tray and poured it with Resolving gel (10%) followed by an overlay of water, let it polymerise for a few minutes (15-20 min.). Removed overlaid water and mounted the resolving gel with Stacking gel (5%) and fixed 10 wells comb immediately to it. Stood by for a few minutes to polymerise the gel, meanwhile prepared samples by mixing it with 5X SDS PAGE sample buffer (in 4:1 ratio), 40µL in total (32µL sample + 8µL 5X SDS PAGE loading buffer). Heated the samples in a water bath at 94 °C for 10 minutes. Removed comb from polymerised gel and fixed the gel plates on PAGE running chamber (Bio-Rad). Poured the chamber with 1X SDS running buffer and started loading the samples to wells. Connected wires on cathode (black) and anode (red) in the running chamber to the power supply and run SDS-PAGE at 50V. After running the gel for a few hours when the loading dye seems to have leaked out of the bottom of the gel plate, the gel run is complete. Power supply was turned off and transferred the gel to a staining solution (Coomassie G-250) and put it on the Gel rocker at 5 rpm for a few hours to overnight. Then removed staining solution and added destaining solution, give similar conditions. Changed destaining solution for a few intervals until bands looked clear. Then checked out the gel on GS 800 Calibrated Densitometer and saved results (Figure 4.6).

3.2.2.7 Pilot expression of IPTG induced LbCpf1 culture

Prepared LB broth media of 15mL having Ampicillin ($50\mu g/mL$) and Chloramphenicol ($35\mu g/mL$), inoculated it with $100\mu L$ of glycerol stock of BL21 DE3 (with LbCpf1gene). Incubated the culture at 37 °C, 150 rpm till OD₆₀₀ reaches 0.6. Then transferred 1mL from this grown culture to 9 sets of microcentrifuge tubes. Induced each 1mL of these aliquots with different IPTG stocks at different concentrations and for different time intervals (**Tabel 3.1**). After incubation at 37°C for their respective time centrifuge each induced cultures (of 1mL) at 8000 rpm for 7 minutes. Decant supernatant and suspended cell pellets on 2X SDS PAGE sample buffer. Heat incubated the samples in a water bath (GFL) at 95 °C for 10 minutes and loaded 40µL of samples to gel for SDS PAGE analysis.

IPTG Stocks	Concentration	Incubation Time (in hours)
UI	0mM	5hr.
A_1 (RPI)	1mM	4hr.
A ₂ (HIMEDIA)	1mM	4hr.
B ₃ (HIMEDIA)	1mM	3hr.
B ₄ (HIMEDIA)	1mM	4hr.
B ₅ (HIMEDIA)	1mM	5hr.
C _{0.5} (GENEI)	0.5mM	4hr.
C ₁ (GENEI)	1mM	4hr.
C _{1.5} (GENEI)	1.5mM	4hr.

Tabel 3.1: Induced cultures for pilot expression with different IPTG stocks at varying concentration and time interval.

3.2.3 Sample (ToLCNDV) DNA extraction

Started with genomic DNA extraction of ToLCNDV infected Potato plant leaves using DNeasy Plant mini kit (Qiagen) in quadruplets and quantified on nanodrop. Performed PCR on extracted genomic DNA to amplify or isolate ssDNA regions (Coat protein & Replicase genes) of ToLCNDV from infected potato leaves (Table 3.2) Figure 3.3). The amplified fragments of Coat protein (CP) & Replicase (Rep) with 140bp & 120bp length respectively are visualised and analysed through 1.6% agarose gel electrophoresis (Figure 4.8).

 Table 3.2: PCR reaction setup

Components	Quantity
Emerald master mix	10µL
Nuclease free water	7μL
Fwd. Primer (for CP & Rep)	1μL
Rev. Primer (for CP & Rep)	1μL
Template DNA (Extracted genomic DNA)	1μL
Total reaction volume	20μL



Figure 3.3: PCR reaction protocol in thermal cycler.

CHAPTER 4 – RESULTS & DISCUSSION

4.1 Narrow down selection to ToLCNDV-Potato and their targeted genes

In order to design precise or specific primers and gRNAs for any sequence of an organism (for its nucleic acid detection) we first need to limit down the 'organism type' among large taxonomy of ToLCNDV variants infecting different hosts at varied geographical regions through NCBI Taxonomy browser or NCBI virus database (Figure 4.1).

	nomy wser			
Entrez PubMed Nucleotide	Protein Genome	Structure PMC	Taxonomy	BioCollections
Search for Tomato Leaf curl New Delhi virus as complete name ¥	lock Go Clear			
Disnlay 3 Javala using filter none				
	D			
Nucleotide Protein Structure Genome Popset SNP	Conserved Domains GEO Datasets	fubMed Central		
Gene HomoloGene SRA Experiments LinkOut BLAST GEO	Profiles O Protein Clusters O Identical Protein Groups O 1	JPARGLE		
Bio Project Bio Sample Bio Systems Assembly dbVar Gene	tic Testing Registry U Host U Viral Host U 1			
U PubChem BioAssay	iniaataa Caalafuuiralaa Camininiridaa Paramanina			
Lineage (nui). viruses, Monounaviria, Snotokuvirae, Cressunaviricota, Repensiv	inceres, Geplatuvitales, Geminivitioae, Degomovitus			
Tomata loaf and New Delhi views 1510 - Chile				
<u>Iomato lear curi New Delni virus</u> Linkout Chek on organism name i	o get more information.			
 Iomato leaf curi New Delhi virus - Ageratum: Northeast India) Tomato leaf curi New Delhi virus - Ritera Cound 				
<u>Iomato leaf curl New Delhi virus - Bitter Gourd</u>				
Iomato leaf curl New Delhi virus - chili pepper				
Iomato leaf curl New Deini virus - Goraknpur				
Iomato leaf curi New delhi virus - India [Delhi:carrot:2007]	0.51			
 Iomato leaf curl New deini virus - India [India:Hissar:Cotton:2] Tomato leaf curl New Delhi sime (Jatasaka Newtherst Jadia) 	002			
 Iomato leaf curl New Delni Virus - Jatropna: Northeast Indiaj Temato leaf curl New Delhi cima. (Luffe) 				
Iomato leaf curl New Delhi virus - [Luna] Temato leaf curl New Delhi virus - Mild				
 Iomato leaf curl New Delhi virus - Mild Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus - (DLT) (0) 				
Iomato leaf curl New Delni Virus - [PK11/8] Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus - [Pk11/8]				
Iomato leaf curl New Delhi virus - [PK15/0] Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus - [PK15/0]				
<u>Iomato leaf curi New Delhi virus - Potato</u>				
 Iomato leaf curl New Delhi virus [Chilli:Banraich] 	1004			
 Iomato leaf curi New Delhi virus India: Aurangabad: OY104A: 	2000]			
 Iomato leaf curl New Delhi virus India:Bangalore:OY135:2005 Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus India:Bangalore:OY135:2005 				
 Iomato leaf curl New Delhi virus India:Guntur:OY130B:2000] Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus India:Guntur:OY130B:2000] 				
 Iomato leaf curl New Delhi Virus India:Karnal:OY81A:2004 Tomato leaf curl New Delhi Virus India:Karnal:OY81A:2004 				
<u>Iomato lear curi New Deini virus [India:New Deini:2012]</u>				
 Iomato leaf curl New Deini Virus [Multan:Duranta repens] 				
 Iomato leaf curi New Deini Virus [Okra:India:Ludniana] Temato leaf curd New Deihi sime (Bolistens Celevina) 10071 				
 Iomato leaf curl New Delni Virus [Pakistan:Solanum:1997] Temeta leaf curl New Delhi virus [Pakistan:Solanum:1997] 				
 Iomato leaf curl New Delhi virus [Pakistan:Solanum:2009] Temato leaf curl New Delhi virus [Pumphin:New Delhi] 	Selected "Tomato leaf curl			
 Iomato leaf curl New Delhi virus [rumpkin:New Delhi] Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus [cucumbar:Thailand] 	Now Dolhi vinus notato			
 Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus-Cucumber, Indianuj Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus-(India-Rhavnagav 2012) 	New Denni virus – potato			
 Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus-India.Dilavilagar.2012 Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus [India: Junagadh: 2012] 	isolate"			
 Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus-India.Junagaun.2012 Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus (Indonesia: Java; 2000) 				
Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus-Indonesia.5ava.2009 Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus-II uelnow]				
Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus [Multan: Lucknow] Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus [Multan: Lucknow]				
Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus [notato]				
Tomato had curl New Della views (tomato) India: Haldwanil				
Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus Chilli nonner				
 Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus India 				
 Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virue, India Undia New Delhi/ 	C16116/20001			
Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus India (India/Vew Delhi) Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus India (India/Vew Delhi)	illi/20081			
- Indiato lear curi stew Denni virus-india (india) fumkur/Cr	IIIIE #000			

Figure 4.1: Selection of ToLCNDV-Potato variant.

From there also a number of ToLCNDV-Potato genome sequences have been reported, isolated from varied geographical locations inside or outside of India. So, I selected the "ToLCNDV-Potato KAN–6 isolates; KX951455 & KX951456 (GenBank IDs of DNA-A & DNA-B segments of bipartite ToLCNDV)" isolated from Kanpur, UP, India (Figure 4.2). As they're the most recent sequences reported (on 2017-09-25) and submitted to the Division of Plant

Protection, CPRI, Bemloe, Shimla, Himachal Pradesh 171001 (where my work is also in collaboration with).

This is an NCBI Labs Experiment. Learn more.										
	NIH	National National Cent	Library of Me er for Biotechnology Info	dicine mation						Login
4	3	NCBI Vi Sequences for discover	rus ^{vy}			About Us ∽ Finc	d Data ~ Help ~	How to Parti	cipate – Submit Sequence	s ∽ <u>Contact Us</u>
Exj	plore '	Virus Data	Download ~	Popula Search	es i	Influenza virus Dengu Rotavirus West 1	ue virus Nile virus	Zika virus MERS coronaviru	Ebolavirus s SARS-COV-2 coronavin	us
ı⊞	'abular V	liew				Selected "ToLC (GenBank ID -	NDV - Pota - KX951455	to Kan-6 & KX95	isolates 51456)"	Build Phylogenetic Tree
	Nuc	cleotide (97)	Protein (160)	RefSeq Genome	e (0)					Select Columns
ters		Accession 🕏	Submitters *	Release Date 🗘	Isolate 🌻	Species ≑	Molecule type 🌻	Length ∓	Geo Location	Host ≑
thow Filters		Accession 🗢	Submitters	Release Date ♥ 2017-09-25	Isolate ♥ KAN-6	Species 🗣 Tomato leaf curl New Del	Molecule type ♥ ssDNA(+/-)	Length ₹ 2739	Geo Location	Host 🗢
ShowFilters		Accession \$ <u>KX951455</u> <u>KX951456</u>	Submitters * Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al.	Release Date	Isolate 🕈 KAN-6 KAN-6	Species ♥ Tomato leaf curl New Del Tomato leaf curl New Del	Molecule type ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-)	Length ₹ 2739 2693	Geo Location * India: Uttar Pradesh, Kanpur India: Uttar Pradesh, Kanpur	Host © Solanum tuberosum Solanum tuberosum
ShowFilters		Accession KX951455 KX951456 KC874494	Submitters A Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al.	Release Date	Isolate ♥ KAN-6 KAN-6	Species © Tomato leaf curl New Del Tomato leaf curl New Del Tomato leaf curl New Del	Molecule type ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-)	Length = 2739 2693 2893	Geo Location * India: Uttar Pradesh, Kanpur India: Uttar Pradesh, Kanpur India: Haryana, Shahjadpur	Host © Solanum tuberosum Solanum tuberosum
ShowFilters		Accession KX951455 KX951456 KX951456 KC874494 KC874495	Submitters A Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al.	Release Date 2017-09-25 2017-09-25 2013-07-30 2013-07-30	Isolate ♥ KAN-6 KAN-6 H-SJ 2 HIS-4	Species © Tomato leaf curl New Del Tomato leaf curl New Del Tomato leaf curl New Del Tomato leaf curl New Del	Molecule type ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-) csDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-)	Length ♥ 2739 2693 2893 2693	Geo Location * India: Uttar Pradesh, Kanpur India: Uttar Pradesh, Kanpur India: Haryana, Shahjadpur India: Haryana, Hisar	Host © Solanum tuberosum Solanum tuberosum Solanum tuberosum
Show Filters		Accession KX951455 KX951456 KC874494 KC874495 KC874496	Submitters A Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al.	Release Date 2017-09-25 2017-09-25 2013-07-30 2013-07-30 2013-07-30	Isolate KAN-6 KAN-6 HI-0J 2 HIS-4 GWA-5	Species Tomato leaf curl New Del Tomato leaf curl New Del Tomato leaf curl New Del Tomato leaf curl New Del Tomato leaf curl New Del	Molecule type ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-) csDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-)	Length = 2739 2693 2693 2693 2693 2692	Geo Location * India: Uttar Pradesh, Kanpur India: Uttar Pradesh, Kanpur India: Haryana, Shahjadpur India: Haryana, Hisar India: Madhya Pradesh, G	Host Solanum tuberosum Solanum tuberosum Solanum tuberosum Solanum tuberosum Solanum tuberosum
Show Filters		Accession	Submitters A Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al.	Release Date 2017-09-25 2013-07-30 2013-07-30 2013-07-30 2013-07-30 2013-07-30	Isolate KAN-6 KAN-6 H-5J-2 HIS-4 GWA-5 FAI-19	Species Tomato leaf curl New Del Tomato leaf curl New Del	Molecule type ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-)	Length = 2739 2693 2693 2693 2693 2692 2694	Geo Location Allow Annual Control Cont	Host Solanum tuberosum Solanum tuberosum Solanum tuberosum Solanum tuberosum Solanum tuberosum Solanum tuberosum
Show Filters		Accession	Submitters Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al. Jeevalatha,A., et al.	Release Date 2017-09-25 2013-07-30 2013-07-30 2013-07-30 2013-07-30 2013-07-30 2013-07-30 2013-07-30 2013-07-30	Isolate KAN-6 KAN-6 HISJ 2 HIS-4 GWA-5 FAI-19 DEE-1	Species Tomato leaf curl New Del Tomato leaf curl New Del	Molecule type ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-) ssDNA(+/-)	Length = 2739 2693 2693 2693 2693 2692 2694 2693	Geo Location Allow	Host Solanum tuberosum

Figure 4.2: Selected ToLCNDV - Potato KAN-6 isolates (Accession/GenBank ID - KX951455 & KX951456).

Now as we have already selected the organism and have access to their GenBank ID's from here we got their nucleotide sequence and other genomic information like about genes, genomic structure (circular ssDNA), genome size (2739 & 2693 of DNA-A & DNA-B segments respectively), etc. And selected the genes which are essentially important for viral pathogenicity or having the most conserved regions, confirmed through BLAST (Basic Local Alignment Search Tool) followed by MSA (Multiple Sequence Alignment) (Hussain et al., 2005) (Table 4. 1)

	DNA-A (KX951455)	DNA-B (KX951456)	
Gene	Function	Gene	Function
AV-1 (280-1050)	Coat Protein	BV-1 (442-1248)	Nuclear shuttle protein
AV-2	Pre-Coat Protein + role in movement	BC-1	Movement protein
AC-1 (1499-2584) AC-2 (1177-1596)	Replication initiator Transcriptional activator protein		
AC-3 AC-4	Replication enhancer protein Not Known		
AC-5 (310-795)	Not Known		

 Table 4. 1: Different genes in bipartite genome of ToLCNDV in potato isolate KAN-6.

 Light blue boxes representing selected target genes for primer & gRNA *in silico* esigning.

4.2 Designed Primers & gRNAs for selected genes (or targeted regions)

In silico designing of primers (from Primer-BLAST; NCBI) and gRNAs (from Cas designer; RGEN tools) targeting specific regions of selected genes and having best optimised characteristics (**Figure 4.2.1 & Figure 4.2.2**) like for Primers; almost similar Tm for forward & reverse primer, GC% in between 40% to 60% range, length of the primers should be around 18-30bp, low self-complementarity & self 3` complementarity to avoid secondary str. & primer dimers formation resp. And for gRNA designing; GC% should be high (~50 or more) for efficient gRNA and target region binding, Out-of-frame score must be >66 at least to avoid frame shifting & Mismatch score of 0 0 1 is recommended for 0 1 2 mismatch(es) format.

4.3 LbCpf1 (Cas12): Transformation, Expression, Extraction & Purification

4.3.1 Confirmed Transformation of pRSET-A vector to BL21 (DE3)

After transformation of pRSET-A expression vector (along with LbCpf1 gene) to BL21 (DE3) cells three Ampicillin and Chloramphenicol resistant LB agar plates had been prepared (triplicates) and spread plated it with transformed cultures and grown overnight to see the growth. The growth in these plates is only possible if BL21 (DE3) host cells having Chloramphenicol resistant genes are transformed with pRSET-A expression vector having Ampicillin resistant genes. Growth in all the three (triplicates) Ampicillin and Chloramphenicol resistant plates proved that transformation was successful (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3: Growth of Transformed cells on Ampicillin (100µg/mL) & Chloramphenicol (35µg/mL) resistant LB Agar Plates. (a) Plate 1 (b) Plate 2 (c) Plate 3.

4.3.2 Confirmed LbCpf1 gene in transformed pRSET-A vector

LbCpf1 gene sequence was added downstream of 6X His-tag sequence of pRSET-A vector at BstB1 site of MCS. Isolated plasmid from transformed cells and quantified on nanodrop having 307.6 ng/ μ L of DNA. According to concentration of plasmid, restriction digestion reaction was set up whose results are visualised on 1.2% of agarose gel electrophoresis (**Figure 4.4**). Isolated and quantified plasmids (307.6 ng/ μ L) were double digested in two sets, first with HindIII & BamHI restriction enzymes as MCS of pRSET-A vector flanked by these two restriction sites. Secondly with XhoI & PvuI restriction enzymes flanking the LbCpf1 gene sequence (confirmed through FastPCR tool & NEB cutter). On digestion full-fledged pRSET-A vector backbone was obtained of 2.9 kbp of length in both the cases (**Figure 4.4**) along with that many small fragments were there which when added upto 3.6 kbp of length that's the original size of

LbCpf1 gene. Hence, it confirmed the presence of LbCpf1 gene in transformed pRSET-A vector.



Figure 4.4: Visualisation of pRSET-A vector backbone and fragments of LbCpf1 gene on double digestion of Isolated plasmid in 1.2% agarose gel. (Left to Right) Lane 1 - HindIII & BamHI restricted fragments. Lane 2 - 1 kbp Ladder (generuler). Lane 3 - XhoI & PvuI restricted fragments.

4.3.3 Expression & Extraction of LbCpf1 Protein

Results for expression and extraction can't be visualised until the SDS PAGE analysis. Protein bands under induced control (Lane 2) in SDS PAGE results after purification (Figure 4.6) could be considered as expressed or crude protein extract content. As they're the 1mL aliquots obtained from immediate expressed or IPTG induced cultures. But for now, we can just observe the pellets of Expressed or IPTG induced cells (Figure 4.5) and supernatant in case of protein extract, protein content of which can be quantified by using Bradford assay. But it wasn't necessarily required in our case as we're focussing more on the purified LbCpf1 protein than crude protein extract. So, we'll quantify the concentration of purified LbCpf1 content (protein) thereupon the successful IMAC (Immobilized Metal Affinity Chromatography).



Figure 4.5: Expressed or IPTG induced cell pellets of (a) Sample-1 (b) Sample-2 (c) Sample-3

4.3.4 SDS PAGE Analysis of Purified 6X His-tagged LbCpf1 protein

LbCpf1 is a monomer protein, so SDS PAGE of small aliquots of the samples could be performed effectively. On SDS PAGE analysis of purified recombinant protein (i.e.; LbCpf1) in 10% of resolving gel, it's been observed that 6X-His tagged LbCpf1 is getting expressed but purification is not up to the mark. The desired protein (LbCpf1) either getting drawn out of column with flow through or wash buffer in Sample-1 & Sample-2 (Figure 4.6; a & b) or if coming into elution then along with other undesirable protein contamination (Figure 4.6; c). This may be due to the turbulent or unmanageable flow of samples through column (Burette; JSGW) or more standardisation need to be done in buffer composition or other steps in purification protocol like; more binding time for 6X - His tag protein to Ni-NTA matrix.





Figure 4.6: SDS PAGE analysis of Recombinant protein (6X His-Tagged LbCpf1) Expression and Purification using Ni-NTA agarose matrix; IMAC.

(a) For Sample-1 (b) For Sample-2 (c) Sample-3. UIC – Un-Induced culture, IC – IPTG Induced culture, Ft – Flow through, W1 & W2 – Collected washed samples, E1 to E5 – Elution samples, L – SDS PAGE protein Ladder of Low range (BIO-RAD).

4.3.5 SDS PAGE Analysis of Pilot expression LbCpf1 cultures

Pilot expression of LbCpf1 cultures (BL21-DE3) is done to standardise the induction or expression step. Different IPTG stocks are been used at different concentration over varying time intervals. Finally, it's been observed in 10% SDS PAGE that there is no much difference in expression level of LbCp1 gene in pRSET-A vector (BL21-DE3 pLysS cells) at IPTG concentration from 0.5mM to 1.5mM over incubation time of 3hr. to 5hr (Figure 4.7) thus more standardisation needs to be done.



Figure 4.7: SDS PAGE evaluation of Pilot expression induced cultures at varying IPTG concentrations and time intervals. *:* Lane 1 - UIC (Un-Induced Control), Lane 2 to Lane 9 IPTG Induced cultures; A₁ - Induced with 1mM IPTG stock (A_{1; company}) for 4hr., A₂ - Induced with 1mM IPTG stock (A_{2; company}) for 4hr., C_{0.5} - Induced with 0.5mM IPTG (GENEI) for 4hr., C₁ - Induced with 1mM IPTG (GENEI) for 4hr., B₃ - Induced with 1mM IPTG (HIMEDIA) for 3hr., B₄ - Induced with 1mM IPTG (HIMEDIA) for 4hr., B₅ - Induced

with 1mM IPTG (HIMEDIA) for 5hr., C1.5 - Induced with 1.5mM IPTG (GENEI) for 4hr., L -

4.4 Sample (ToLCNDV) DNA Extraction & Isolation

SDS-PAGE Protein Ladder of Broad range (BIO-RAD)

The targeted regions of ToLCNDV are extracted, isolated from infected potato leaves and quantified as 49.6 ng/ μ L, 38.3 ng/ μ L, 69.9 ng/ μ L, 77.2 ng/ μ L (in quadruplets) followed by primer specific amplification of 'coat protein' & 'replicase' gene regions of isolated ToLCNDV genome. The amplified or isolated targeted gene regions of ToLCNDV are analysed and validated from 1.6% agarose gel electrophoresis (Figure 4.8). These amplicons can later be utilised for CRISPR-Cas based nucleic acid detection of ToLCNDV in Potato leaves.



Figure 4.8: PCR amplified or Isolated Coat protein (140bp) & Replicase (120bp) gene regions of ToLCNDV in 1.6% agarose gel with 100bp Ladder (GeneRuler) on right side.

CONCLUSION

The BL21 (DE3) pLysS host cells are successfully transformed with pRSET-A expression vector along with LbCpf1 gene, confirmed through culturing of transformed cells on LB plates having ampicillin and chloramphenicol antibiotics as transformed cells are resistant to both these antibiotics. Also, the presence of LbCpf1 gene was confirmed by restriction double digestion following to plasmid isolation of transformed culture and visualisation of LbCpf1 gene (3.6kbp) on agarose gel electrophoresis.

Then induced transformed cells using IPTG at different concentration over time to optimise the best expression conditions for LbCpf1 gene on the available expression system. After that extraction and purification of expressed LbCpf1 protein tagged with 6X-Histidine is done using Ni²⁺-NTA Column (Qiagen) via IMAC, that analysed on SDS PAGE. Alongside with recombinant Cas protein, primers & gRNAs were designed for specific targeted gene regions of ToLCNDV-Potato variant with best optimised properties *in silico*.

Both of these CRISPR-Cas components i.e; designed gRNA and Purified LbCpf1 (Cas12a) could be employed for CRISPR based diagnosis of ToLCNDV from infected Potato sample.

References

- [1] K. M. Arjun, "Indian Agriculture- Status, Importance and Role in Indian Economy," Int. j. agric. sci. food technol., vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 343-346, 2013.
- [2] M. Manida, "Agriculture In India: Information About Indian Agriculture And Its Importance," AEGAEUM, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 729-736, 2020, doi: 10089.AJ.2020.V8I3.285311.2984
- [3] "India GDP sector-wise 2021 StatisticsTimes.com." (accessed May 28, 2022).
- [4] M. Ali and S. Gupta, "Carrying capacity of Indian agriculture: pulse crops," *Curr. Sci.*, vol. 102, no. 6, pp. 874–881, 2012.
- [5] A. Parashar and R. Saini, "A1 milk and its controversy-a review," pp. 4611–4619, Jun. 2019.
- [6] A. K. Joshi, B. Mishra, R. Chatrath, G. Ortiz Ferrara, and R. P. Singh, "Wheat improvement in India: present status, emerging challenges and future prospects," *Euphytica*, vol. 157, no. 3, pp. 431–446, Oct. 2007, doi: 10.1007/s10681-007-9385-7.
- [7] "India at a glance | FAO in India | Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations." https://www.fao.org/india/fao-in-india/india-at-a-glance/en/ (accessed May 28, 2022).
- [8] E. Moriones, S. Praveen, and S. Chakraborty, "Tomato Leaf Curl New Delhi Virus: An Emerging Virus Complex Threatening Vegetable and Fiber Crops," *Viruses*, vol. 9, no. 10, Art. no. 10, Oct. 2017, doi: 10.3390/v9100264.
- [9] S. S.-E.-A. Zaidi, D. P. Martin, I. Amin, M. Farooq, and S. Mansoor, "Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus: a widespread bipartite begomovirus in the territory of monopartite begomoviruses," *Mol. Plant Pathol.*, vol. 18, no. 7, pp. 901–911, Sep. 2017, doi: 10.1111/mpp.12481.
- [10] M. Mnari-Hattab, S. Zammouri, M. S. Belkadhi, D. Bellon Doña, E. ben Nahia, and M. R. Hajlaoui, "First report of *Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus* infecting cucurbits in Tunisia," *New Dis. Rep.*, vol. 31, pp. 21–21, May 2015, doi: 10.5197/j.2044-0588.2015.031.021.
- [11] S. Panno *et al.*, "First report of *Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus* affecting zucchini squash in an important horticultural area of southern Italy," *New Dis. Rep.*, vol. 33, pp. 6–6, Feb. 2016, doi: 10.5197/j.2044-0588.2016.033.006.
- M. Hussain, S. Mansoor, S. Iram, Y. Zafar, and R. W. Briddon, "First report of Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus affecting chilli pepper in Pakistan.," *Plant Pathol.*, vol. 53, no. 6, 2004, Accessed: May 28, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/20043212870
- [13] I. M. Fortes, S. Sánchez-Campos, E. Fiallo-Olivé, J. A. Díaz-Pendón, J. Navas-Castillo, and E. Moriones, "A Novel Strain of Tomato Leaf Curl New Delhi Virus Has Spread to the Mediterranean Basin," *Viruses*, vol. 8, no. 11, Art. no. 11, Nov. 2016, doi: 10.3390/v8110307.
- [14] S. Yazdani-Khameneh *et al.*, "Natural Occurrence of Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus in Iranian Cucurbit Crops," *Plant Pathol. J.*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 201–208, Jun. 2016, doi: 10.5423/PPJ.OA.10.2015.0210.

- [15] K. S. Usharani, B. Surendranath, S. M. Paul-Khurana, I. D. Garg, and V. G. Malathi, "Potato leaf curl – a new disease of potato in northern India caused by a strain of Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus," *Plant Pathol.*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 235–235, 2004, doi: 10.1111/j.0032-0862.2004.00959.x.
- [16] S. L. DeFauw, Z. He, R. P. Larkin, and S. A. Mansour, "Sustainable Potato Production and Global Food Security," in *Sustainable Potato Production: Global Case Studies*, Z. He, R. Larkin, and W. Honeycutt, Eds. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 2012, pp. 3–19. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-4104-1_1.
- [17] R. Navarre and M. J. Pavek, The Potato: Botany, Production and Uses. CABI, 2014.
- [18] G. Scott and V. Suarez, "GROWTH RATES for potato In INDIA and theIR implications for industry," p. 13, 2011.
- [19] "Potato apical leaf curl disease: current status and perspectives on a disease caused by tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus | SpringerLink." https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s41348-021-00463-w (accessed May 28, 2022).
- [20] "Infection of tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus (ToLCNDV), a bipartite begomovirus with betasatellites, results in enhanced level of helper virus components and antagonistic interaction between DNA B and betasatellites | SpringerLink." https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00253-012-4685-9 (accessed May 28, 2022).
- [21] M. Singh, G. Bindal, C. S. Misra, and D. Rath, "The era of Cas12 and Cas13 CRISPR-based disease diagnosis," *Crit. Rev. Microbiol.*, vol. 0, no. 0, pp. 1–16, Feb. 2022, doi: 10.1080/1040841X.2021.2025041.
- [22] M. S. Wheatley and Y. Yang, "Versatile Applications of the CRISPR/Cas Toolkit in Plant Pathology and Disease Management," *Phytopathology*®, vol. 111, no. 7, pp. 1080–1090, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-08-20-0322-IA.
- [23] S.-Y. Li, Q.-X. Cheng, J.-K. Liu, X.-Q. Nie, G.-P. Zhao, and J. Wang, "CRISPR-Cas12a has both cis- and trans-cleavage activities on single-stranded DNA," *Cell Res.*, vol. 28, no. 4, Art. no. 4, Apr. 2018, doi: 10.1038/s41422-018-0022-x.
- [24] S.-Y. Li *et al.*, "CRISPR-Cas12a-assisted nucleic acid detection," *Cell Discov.*, vol. 4, no. 1, Art. no. 1, Apr. 2018, doi: 10.1038/s41421-018-0028-z.
- [25] M. J. Kellner, J. G. Koob, J. S. Gootenberg, O. O. Abudayyeh, and F. Zhang, "SHERLOCK: nucleic acid detection with CRISPR nucleases," *Nat. Protoc.*, vol. 14, no. 10, Art. no. 10, Oct. 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41596-019-0210-2.
- [26] J. S. Chen *et al.*, "CRISPR-Cas12a target binding unleashes indiscriminate single-stranded DNase activity," *Science*, vol. 360, no. 6387, pp. 436–439, Apr. 2018, doi: 10.1126/science.aar6245.
- [27] T. W. Overton, "Recombinant protein production in bacterial hosts," *Drug Discov. Today*, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 590–601, May 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2013.11.008.

- [28] G. L. Rosano, E. S. Morales, and E. A. Ceccarelli, "New tools for recombinant protein production in Escherichia coli: A 5-year update," *Protein Sci.*, vol. 28, no. 8, pp. 1412–1422, 2019, doi: 10.1002/pro.3668.
- [29] B. Owczarek, A. Gerszberg, and K. Hnatuszko-Konka, "A Brief Reminder of Systems of Production and Chromatography-Based Recovery of Recombinant Protein Biopharmaceuticals," *BioMed Res. Int.*, vol. 2019, p. e4216060, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.1155/2019/4216060.
- [30] K. Rege, M. Pepsin, B. Falcon, L. Steele, and M. Heng, "High-throughput process development for recombinant protein purification," *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, vol. 93, no. 4, pp. 618–630, 2006, doi: 10.1002/bit.20702.
- [31] J. Nilsson, S. Ståhl, J. Lundeberg, M. Uhlén, and P.-åke Nygren, "Affinity Fusion Strategies for Detection, Purification, and Immobilization of Recombinant Proteins," *Protein Expr. Purif.*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 1–16, Oct. 1997, doi: 10.1006/prep.1997.0767.
- [32] D. A. Jackson, R. H. Symons, and P. Berg, "Biochemical method for inserting new genetic information into DNA of Simian Virus 40: circular SV40 DNA molecules containing lambda phage genes and the galactose operon of Escherichia coli," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 69, no. 10, pp. 2904–2909, Oct. 1972, doi: 10.1073/pnas.69.10.2904.
- [33] S. N. Cohen, A. C. Chang, H. W. Boyer, and R. B. Helling, "Construction of biologically functional bacterial plasmids in vitro," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 70, no. 11, pp. 3240– 3244, Nov. 1973, doi: 10.1073/pnas.70.11.3240.
- [34] "1972: First Recombinant DNA," *Genome.gov.* https://www.genome.gov/25520302/online-education-kit-1972-first-recombinant-dna (accessed May 26, 2022).
- [35] K. Itakura *et al.*, "Expression in Escherichia coli of a Chemically Synthesized Gene for the Hormone Somatostatin," *Science*, vol. 198, no. 4321, pp. 1056–1063, Dec. 1977, doi: 10.1126/science.412251.
- [36] L. Gifre, A. Arís, A. Bach, and E. Garcia-Fruitós, "Trends in recombinant protein use in animal production," *Microb. Cell Factories*, vol. 16, no. 1, p. 40, Mar. 2017, doi: 10.1186/s12934-017-0654-4.
- [37] "Recombinant Proteins an overview | ScienceDirect Topics." https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/biochemistry-genetics-and-molecularbiology/recombinant-proteins (accessed May 26, 2022).
- [38] M. Uhlén, B. Nilsson, B. Guss, M. Lindberg, S. Gatenbeck, and L. Philipson, "Gene fusion vectors based on the gene for staphylococcal protein A," *Gene*, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 369–378, Sep. 1983, doi: 10.1016/0378-1119(83)90025-2.
- [39] J. W. Jarvik and C. A. Telmer, "Epitope Tagging," Annu. Rev. Genet., vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 601–618, 1998, doi: 10.1146/annurev.genet.32.1.601.
- [40] "Metal chelate affinity chromatography, a new approach to protein fractionation | Nature." https://www.nature.com/articles/258598a0 (accessed May 27, 2022).

- [41] J. A. Bornhorst and J. J. Falke, "[16] Purification of proteins using polyhistidine affinity tags," in *Methods in Enzymology*, vol. 326, Elsevier, 2000, pp. 245–254. doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(00)26058-8.
- [42] "Immobilized Metal Affinity Chromatography an overview | ScienceDirect Topics." https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/medicine-and-dentistry/immobilized-metal-affinitychromatography (accessed May 26, 2022).
- [43] G. Chaga, D. E. Bochkariov, G. G. Jokhadze, J. Hopp, and P. Nelson, "Natural poly-histidine affinity tag for purification of recombinant proteins on cobalt(II)-carboxymethylaspartate crosslinked agarose," J. Chromatogr. A, vol. 864, no. 2, pp. 247–256, Dec. 1999, doi: 10.1016/s0021-9673(99)01008-0.
- [44] J. Crowe, H. Döbeli, R. Gentz, E. Hochuli, D. Stüber, and K. Henco, "6xHis-Ni-NTA Chromatography as a Superior Technique in Recombinant Protein Expressiod/Purification," in *Protocols for Gene Analysis*, vol. 31, New Jersey: Humana Press, 1994, pp. 371–388. doi: 10.1385/0-89603-258-2:371.
- [45] R. Janknecht, G. de Martynoff, J. Lou, R. A. Hipskind, A. Nordheim, and H. G. Stunnenberg, "Rapid and efficient purification of native histidine-tagged protein expressed by recombinant vaccinia virus.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 88, no. 20, pp. 8972–8976, Oct. 1991.
- [46] E. S. Hemdan, Y. J. Zhao, E. Sulkowski, and J. Porath, "Surface topography of histidine residues: a facile probe by immobilized metal ion affinity chromatography," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 86, no. 6, pp. 1811–1815, Mar. 1989, doi: 10.1073/pnas.86.6.1811.
- [47] S. S. Suh, B. L. Haymore, and F. H. Arnold, "Characterization of His-X3-His sites in alphahelices of synthetic metal-binding bovine somatotropin," *Protein Eng.*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 301– 305, Feb. 1991, doi: 10.1093/protein/4.3.301.
- [48] T. T. Yip, Y. Nakagawa, and J. Porath, "Evaluation of the interaction of peptides with Cu(II), Ni(II), and Zn(II) by high-performance immobilized metal ion affinity chromatography," *Anal. Biochem.*, vol. 183, no. 1, pp. 159–171, Nov. 1989, doi: 10.1016/0003-2697(89)90184-x.
- [49] G. S. Chaga, A. S. Medin, S. G. Chaga, and J. O. Porath, "Isolation and characterization of catalase from Penicillium chrysogenum," *J. Chromatogr.*, vol. 604, no. 1, pp. 177–183, Jun. 1992, doi: 10.1016/0021-9673(92)85542-2.
- [50] R. Gutiérrez, E. M. Martín del Valle, and M. A. Galán, "Immobilized Metal-Ion Affinity Chromatography: Status and Trends," *Sep. Purif. Rev.*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 71–111, Apr. 2007, doi: 10.1080/15422110601166007.
- [51] V. Gaberc-Porekar and V. Menart, "Perspectives of immobilized-metal affinity chromatography," J. Biochem. Biophys. Methods, vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 335–360, Oct. 2001, doi: 10.1016/S0165-022X(01)00207-X.
- [52] S. Vançan, E. A. Miranda, and S. M. A. Bueno, "IMAC of human IgG: studies with IDAimmobilized copper, nickel, zinc, and cobalt ions and different buffer systems," *Process Biochem.*, vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 573–579, Jan. 2002, doi: 10.1016/S0032-9592(01)00242-4.

- [53] D. F. Westra, G. W. Welling, D. G. A. M. Koedijk, A. J. Scheffer, T. H. The, and S. Welling-Wester, "Immobilised metal-ion affinity chromatography purification of histidine-tagged recombinant proteins: a wash step with a low concentration of EDTA," *J. Chromatogr. B. Biomed. Sci. App.*, vol. 760, no. 1, pp. 129–136, Aug. 2001, doi: 10.1016/S0378-4347(01)00261-4.
- [54] J. Pedersen, C. Lauritzen, M. T. Madsen, and S. Weis Dahl, "Removal of N-Terminal Polyhistidine Tags from Recombinant Proteins Using Engineered Aminopeptidases," *Protein Expr. Purif.*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 389–400, Apr. 1999, doi: 10.1006/prep.1999.1038.
- [55] M. Padidam, R. N. Beachy, and C. M. Fauquet, "Tomato leaf curl geminivirus from India has a bipartite genome and coat protein is not essential for infectivity," *J. Gen. Virol.*, vol. 76 (Pt 1), pp. 25–35, Jan. 1995, doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-76-1-25.
- [56] "Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus." https://www.eppo.int/ACTIVITIES/plant_quarantine/alert_list_viruses/https%3A%2F%2Fww w.eppo.int%2FACTIVITIES%2Fplant_quarantine%2Falert_list_viruses%2Ftomato_leafcurl_n ewdelhi (accessed May 28, 2022).
- [57] E. Moriones and J. Navas-Castillo, "Tomato yellow leaf curl virus, an emerging virus complex causing epidemics worldwide," *Virus Res.*, vol. 71, no. 1–2, pp. 123–134, Nov. 2000, doi: 10.1016/S0168-1702(00)00193-3.
- [58] V. Muniyappa *et al.*, "Tomato leaf curl virus from Bangalore (ToLCV-Ban4): sequence comparison with Indian ToLCV isolates, detection in plants and insects, and vector relationships}," *Arch. Virol.*, vol. 145, no. 8, pp. 1583–1598, Aug. 2000, doi: 10.1007/s007050070078.
- [59] "Tomato Yellow Leaf Curl Virus Management for Homeowners." https://ipm.ifas.ufl.edu/agricultural_ipm/tylcv_home_mgmt.shtml (accessed May 28, 2022).
- [60] S. S.-E.-A. Zaidi, D. P. Martin, I. Amin, M. Farooq, and S. Mansoor, "Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus: a widespread bipartite begomovirus in the territory of monopartite begomoviruses," *Mol. Plant Pathol.*, vol. 18, no. 7, pp. 901–911, Sep. 2017, doi: 10.1111/mpp.12481.
- [61] A. Jeevalatha *et al.*, "Molecular characterization and infectivity analysis of tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus isolates infecting potato," *3 Biotech*, vol. 11, no. 4, p. 203, Apr. 2021, doi: 10.1007/s13205-021-02752-5.
- [62] S. Chakraborty, "Tomato Leaf Curl Viruses from India," in *Encyclopedia of Virology (Third Edition)*, B. W. J. Mahy and M. H. V. Van Regenmortel, Eds. Oxford: Academic Press, 2008, pp. 124–133. doi: 10.1016/B978-012374410-4.00716-0.
- [63] I. D. Garg, S. Khurana, S. Kumar, and B. Lakra, "Association of a geminivirus with potato apical leaf curl in India and its immuno-electron microscopic detection.," *undefined*, 2001, Accessed: May 28, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Association-of-ageminivirus-with-potato-apical-in-Garg-Khurana/dc7282fc9452837967fd06f172dc1c878865cf1a

47 | Page

- [64] S. Mansoor *et al.*, "Evidence for the Association of a Bipartite Geminivirus with Tomato Leaf Curl Disease in Pakistan," *Plant Dis.*, vol. 81, no. 8, p. 958, Aug. 1997, doi: 10.1094/PDIS.1997.81.8.958C.
- [65] "Agriculture in India: Industry Overview, Market Size, Role in Development...| IBEF," India Brand Equity Foundation. https://www.ibef.org/industry/agriculture-presentation (accessed May 28, 2022).
- [66] S. Yang and R. E. Rothman, "PCR-based diagnostics for infectious diseases: uses, limitations, and future applications in acute-care settings," *Lancet Infect. Dis.*, vol. 4, no. 6, pp. 337–348, Jun. 2004, doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(04)01044-8.
- [67] D. Klein, "Quantification using real-time PCR technology: applications and limitations," *Trends Mol. Med.*, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 257–260, Jun. 2002, doi: 10.1016/S1471-4914(02)02355-9.
- [68] M. Jinek, K. Chylinski, I. Fonfara, M. Hauer, J. A. Doudna, and E. Charpentier, "A Programmable Dual-RNA–Guided DNA Endonuclease in Adaptive Bacterial Immunity," *Science*, vol. 337, no. 6096, pp. 816–821, Aug. 2012, doi: 10.1126/science.1225829.
- [69] G. B. Robb, "Genome Editing with CRISPR-Cas: An Overview," Curr. Protoc. Essent. Lab. Tech., vol. 19, no. 1, p. e36, 2019, doi: 10.1002/cpet.36.
- [70] Y. Mao, J. R. Botella, Y. Liu, and J.-K. Zhu, "Gene editing in plants: progress and challenges," *Natl. Sci. Rev.*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 421–437, May 2019, doi: 10.1093/nsr/nwz005.
- [71] S. B. Moon, D. Y. Kim, J.-H. Ko, and Y.-S. Kim, "Recent advances in the CRISPR genome editing tool set," *Exp. Mol. Med.*, vol. 51, no. 11, Art. no. 11, Nov. 2019, doi: 10.1038/s12276-019-0339-7.
- [72] B. Zetsche et al., "Cpf1 Is a Single RNA-Guided Endonuclease of a Class 2 CRISPR-Cas System," Cell, vol. 163, no. 3, pp. 759–771, Oct. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.09.038.
- [73] O. O. Abudayyeh *et al.*, "C2c2 is a single-component programmable RNA-guided RNAtargeting CRISPR effector," *Science*, vol. 353, no. 6299, p. aaf5573, Aug. 2016, doi: 10.1126/science.aaf5573.
- [74] L. Guo *et al.*, "SARS-CoV-2 detection with CRISPR diagnostics," *Cell Discov.*, vol. 6, no. 1, Art. no. 1, May 2020, doi: 10.1038/s41421-020-0174-y.
- [75] R. Nouri, Z. Tang, M. Dong, T. Liu, A. Kshirsagar, and W. Guan, "CRISPR-based detection of SARS-CoV-2: A review from sample to result," *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, vol. 178, p. 113012, Apr. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.bios.2021.113012.
- [76] Md. R. Rahman *et al.*, "CRISPR is a useful biological tool for detecting nucleic acid of SARS-CoV-2 in human clinical samples," *Biomed. Pharmacother.*, vol. 140, p. 111772, Aug. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2021.111772.
- [77] B. Sharma, M. F. H. Shahanshah, S. Gupta, and V. Gupta, "Recent advances in the diagnosis of COVID-19: a bird's eye view," *Expert Rev. Mol. Diagn.*, vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 475–491, May 2021, doi: 10.1080/14737159.2021.1874354.

- [78] F.-E. Chen *et al.*, "Point-of-care CRISPR-Cas-assisted SARS-CoV-2 detection in an automated and portable droplet magnetofluidic device," *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, vol. 190, p. 113390, Oct. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.bios.2021.113390.
- [79] U. Ganbaatar and C. Liu, "CRISPR-Based COVID-19 Testing: Toward Next-Generation Pointof-Care Diagnostics," *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.*, vol. 11, p. 663949, Apr. 2021, doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2021.663949.
- [80] J. E. van Dongen, J. T. W. Berendsen, R. D. M. Steenbergen, R. M. F. Wolthuis, J. C. T. Eijkel, and L. I. Segerink, "Point-of-care CRISPR/Cas nucleic acid detection: Recent advances, challenges and opportunities," *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, vol. 166, p. 112445, Oct. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.bios.2020.112445.
- [81] W. Feng *et al.*, "CRISPR technology incorporating amplification strategies: molecular assays for nucleic acids, proteins, and small molecules," *Chem. Sci.*, vol. 12, no. 13, pp. 4683–4698, 2021, doi: 10.1039/D0SC06973F.

APPENDIX

Reagents or Buffers	Composition
	For Soluble Proteins
Resuspension buffer	50mM NaH ₂ PO ₄ .H ₂ O
	300mM NaCl
	10mM Imidazole
	(Maintain pH 8.0)
Wash Buffer	50mM NaH ₂ PO ₄ .H ₂ O
	300mM NaCl
	20mM Imidazole
	(Maintain pH 8.0)
Elution Buffer	50mM NaH ₂ PO ₄ .H ₂ O
	300mM NaCl
	250mM Imidazole
	(Maintain pH 8.0)
F	For Insoluble Proteins
Lysis Buffer	100mM NaH ₂ PO ₄ .H ₂ O
	10mM Tris-Cl
	8M Urea
	(Maintain pH 8.0)
Wash Buffer	100mM NaH ₂ PO ₄ .H ₂ O
	10mM Tris-Cl
	8M Urea
	(Maintain pH 6.3)
Elution Buffer 1	100mM NaH ₂ PO ₄ .H ₂ O
	10mM Tris-Cl
	8M Urea
	(Maintain pH 5.9)
Elution Buffer 2	100mM NaH ₂ PO ₄ .H ₂ O
	10mM Tris-Cl
	8M Urea
	(Maintain pH 4.5)

I. Reagents & Buffers for Recombinant Protein Extraction & Purification:

II. SDS-PAGE Buffers:

Reagents	Composition				
Gel Casting buffer					
30% Acrylamide/Bis-Acrylamide solution	29.2g Acrylamide + 0.8g Bis-acrylamide in				
	100mL dH ₂ O				
Tris buffer	For Resolving gel - 1.5M Tris (pH 8.8)				
	Or				
	For Stacking gel - 1M Tris (pH 6.8)				
SDS (Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate)	10% SDS				
APS (Ammonium Per Sulfate)	10% APS				
TEMED (TetraMethylethyleneDiamine)					
Gel Runnin	g buffer (1X)				
Tris base	25mM				
Glycine	200mM				
SDS	0.1%				
(Maintain pH 8.3)					
SDS-PAGE loading buffer (5X)					
Tris-Cl (pH 6.8)	250mM				
Glycerol	50%				
SDS	10%				
Bromophenol blue	0.05%				
DTT (Dithiothreitol)	500mM				
Staining & De-staining solutions					
Coomassie G-250	0.5%				
Methanol	50%				
Acetic acid	10%				
dH ₂ 0 or MiliQ water	40%				